1 2 3 4 5	MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.: 1641 mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com LAW OFFICES OF MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD. 376 East Warm Springs Road, Ste. 140 Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 (702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 FAX Attorney for plaintiff/appellant		Electronically Filed Sep 06 2017 08:49 Elizabeth A. Browr	a.m
6	The state of the s		Clerk of Supreme	Cour
7				
8	SUPREME	COURT		
9	CTATE OF			
10	STATE OF	NEVADA		
11	DAISY TRUST,	No. 72747		
12	Appellant,			
13 14	VS.			
15	WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.,			
16	Respondent.			
17				
18				
19				
20	APPELLANT'S O	PENING BRIEF		
21				
22	Michael F. Bohn, Esq. Law Office of			
23	Michael F. Bohn, Esq., Ltd. 376 East Warm Springs Rd., Ste. 140

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
(A) Basis for the Supreme Court's Appellate Jurisdiction: The order granting
defendant's motion for summary judgment is appealable under NRAP3A(b)(1).
(B) The filing dates establishing the timeliness of the appeal: The order granting
defendant's motion for summary judgment was filed on October 14, 2016. Notice of
entry of the order was served and filed on October 17, 2016. The default judgment
resolving plaintiff's claims against defendant Blume was entered on March 28, 2017.
Plaintiff filed its notice of appeal on March 29, 2017.
(C) The appeal is from an order granting defendant's motion for summary judgment.
///

### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

2
2

ix

This case is a quiet title action. Rule 17 does not list quiet title matters as one of the cases retained by the Supreme Court. Counsel for plaintiff/appellant therefore believes that this appeal should be assigned to the Court of Appeals.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

- 1. Whether the HOA foreclosure sale extinguished defendant's deed of trust.
- 2. Whether 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) protected the deed of trust assigned to defendant from being extinguished by the HOA foreclosure sale.
- 3. Whether the record on appeal contains admissible evidence proving that the Federal National Mortgage Association (hereinafter "Freddie Mac") complied with Nevada law to hold an interest in the deed of trust on the date of the foreclosure sale.
- 4. Whether 12 U.S.C. § 4617 preempts Nevada's recording statutes and prevents any unrecorded interest held by Freddie Mac from being void as to plaintiff.
- 5. Whether defendant had prudential standing to assert rights allegedly held by the Federal Housing Finance Agency (hereinafter "FHFA").
- 6. Whether plaintiff is protected as a bona fide purchaser from the unrecorded claim that Freddie Mac owned the loan and had an interest in the Property.
- 7. An order granting summary judgment is reviewed de novo without deference to the findings of the lower court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 28, 2013, Daisy Trust (hereinafter "plaintiff") filed its complaint asserting three claims for relief: 1) entry of an injunction prohibiting Wells Fargo

Bank, N.A. (hereinafter "defendant") from foreclosing a deed of trust recorded on September 28, 2007 against the real property commonly known as 10209 Dove Row Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada (hereinafter "Property"); 2) entry of a judgment pursuant to NRS 40.010 determining that plaintiff was the rightful owner of the Property and that the defendant had no right, title, interest or claim to the Property; 3) entry of a declaration that title to the Property was vested in plaintiff free and clear of all liens and that the defendant be forever enjoined from asserting any right, title, interest or claim to the Property. (JA, pgs. 1-5)

Defendant did not file an answer to plaintiff's complaint, but instead filed a motion for summary judgment on March 14, 2016. (JA, pgs. 25-54)

On March 29, 2016, plaintiff filed an opposition to defendant's motion for summary judgment. (JA, pgs. 62-120)

On June 21, 2016, defendant filed a reply in support of its motion for summary judgment. (JA, pgs. 121-141)

On July 12, 2016, defendant filed its supplemental evidence in support of its motion for summary judgment. (JA, pgs. 142-158)

On October 13, 2016, the court entered a default against defendant Donald K. Blume (hereinafter "defendant Blume"). (JA, pg. 159)

On October 14, 2016, the court entered an order granting defendant's motion for summary judgment. (JA, pgs. 160-165)

On October 17, 2016, defendant served and filed a notice of entry of order granting defendant's motion for summary judgment. (JA, pgs. 166-174)

On December 9, 2016, plaintiff filed a motion for default judgment against defendant Blume. (JA, pgs. 175-188)

On December 27, 2016, defendant filed a response to motion for default judgment against defendant Blume. (JA, pgs. 189-191)

On March 28, 2017, the court entered a default judgment against defendant Blume. (JA, pgs. 192-194)

On March 29, 2017, plaintiff served and filed a notice of entry of default judgment. (JA, pgs. 195-199)

On March 29, 2017, plaintiff filed its notice of appeal. (JA, pgs. 200-201)

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Plaintiff obtained title to the Property by entering and paying the high bid of \$10,500.00 for the Property at a public auction held on August 3, 2012. See copy of foreclosure deed recorded on August 9, 2012 at JA, pgs. 88-90. The foreclosure sale arose from a delinquency in assessments due from defendant Blume to Westminster

at Providence (hereinafter "the HOA") pursuant to NRS Chapter 116. (JA, pg. 2, ¶3)

Defendant is the assigned beneficiary of a deed of trust recorded as an encumbrance to the subject property on September 28, 2007. See copy of deed of trust at JA, pgs. 100-118, and assignment of deed of trust at JA, pg. 120.

The agent for the HOA recorded a notice of delinquent assessment lien on August 5, 2010 (JA, pg. 92); recorded a notice of default and election to sell under homeowners association lien on September 30, 2010 (JA, pgs. 94-95); and recorded a notice of foreclosure sale. (JA, pgs. 97-98) As noted above, the public auction was held on August 3, 2012.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The language in NRS 116.3116(2) granted to the HOA a super priority lien that extinguished defendant's first deed of trust when plaintiff purchased the Property at the HOA foreclosure sale held on August 3, 2012.

12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) did not protect defendant's deed of trust from being extinguished.

Defendant did not present admissible evidence proving that Freddie Mac complied with Nevada law to hold any interest in the Property on the date of the HOA foreclosure sale.

12 U.S.C. § 4617 does not preempt Nevada's recording statutes, which made any unrecorded interest held by Freddie Mac void as to plaintiff.

Defendant did not produce admissible evidence proving that defendant had prudential standing to assert claims or defenses based on rights that belong to FHFA.

As a bona fide purchaser, plaintiff is protected from the unrecorded interest that defendant claims was held by Freddie Mac on the date of the foreclosure sale.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In <u>Wood v. Safeway, Inc.</u>, 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005), this Court stated that it "reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, without deference to the findings of the lower court."

#### **ARGUMENT**

1. Defendant's trust deed was extinguished by the HOA foreclosure sale held on August 3, 2012.

NRS 116.3116 (2) provides that the super-priority lien for up to 9 months of charges is "prior to all security interests described in paragraph (b)." The first deed of trust, recorded on September 28, 2007, falls squarely within the language of paragraph (b). The statutory language does not limit the nature of this priority in any way.

In SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 75,

334 P.3d 408, 419 (2014), this Court stated:

NRS 116.3116(2) gives an HOA a true superpriority lien, proper foreclosure of which will extinguish a first deed of trust. Because Chapter 116 permits nonjudicial foreclosure of HOA liens, and because SFR's complaint alleges that proper notices were sent and received, we reverse the district court's order of dismissal. In view of this holding, we vacate the order denying preliminary injunctive relief and remand for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

In defendant's motion for summary judgment (JA, pgs. 25-54), in defendant's reply in support of its motion for summary judgment (JA, pgs. 121-141), and in defendant's supplemental evidence in support of its motion for summary judgment (JA, pgs. 142-158), defendant failed to prove that it tendered the superpriority amount of the HOA's assessment lien prior to the public auction. As a result, the HOA necessarily foreclosed the superpriority portion of its lien at the public auction held on August 3, 2012.

The first page of the foreclosure deed (JA, pg. 88) included the following recitals:

Default occurred as set forth in a Notice of Default and Election to Sell, recorded on 9/30/2010 as instrument # 0001822 Book 20100930 which was recorded in the office of the recorder of said county. Nevada Association Services, Inc. has complied with all requirements of law including, but not limited to, the elapsing of 90 days, mailing of copies of Notice of Delinquent Assessment and Notice of Default and the posting and publication of the Notice of Sale.

The foreclosure of the HOA's super priority lien extinguished any estate, right, title, interest or claim in the Property created by defendant's subordinate deed of

trust. <u>SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.</u>, 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 75, 334 P.3d 408, 419 (2014). Title to the real property was therefore vested in plaintiff free of the extinguished deed of trust.

## 2. 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) did not protect defendant's deed of trust from being extinguished.

12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(1) expressly provides that "[t]he provisions of this subsection shall apply with respect to the Agency in any case in which the Agency is acting as a conservator or a receiver." (emphasis added) The word "Agency" is defined by 12 U.S.C. § 4502(2) to be the FHFA. The definition of "regulated entity" in 12 U.S.C. § 4502(20) includes Freddie Mac.

Because FHFA never "acted" as a party in the present case either as "a conservator or a receiver," the provisions in 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j), and in particular, 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3), cannot support the arguments made by defendant to protect defendant's interest in the extinguished the deed of trust.

In footnote 1 at page 4 of defendant's motion for summary judgment (JA, pg. 28), defendant cited nine cases decided by the United States District Court for the District of Nevada that are factually different from the present case because either Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae was the assignee named in a <u>recorded</u> assignment of the

deed of trust, and FHFA and Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae were parties in the lawsuit and joined in the motion claiming that 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) protected the deed of trust. Defendant also cited an unpublished order granting Fannie Mae's countermotion for summary judgment in a case where Fannie Mae was a named party and filed the countermotion. <u>Saticoy Bay LLC Series 9641 Christine View v. Federal</u> National Mortgage Association, Case No. A-13-690924-C (Dec. 8, 2015).

In the present case, Freddie Mac has never held a recorded interest in the Property, and Freddie Mac and FHFA were not named as parties and did not join in defendant's motion.

12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) states:

No property of the Agency shall be subject to levy, attachment, garnishment, foreclosure, or sale without the consent of the Agency, nor shall any involuntary lien attach to the **property of the Agency**. (emphasis added)

In Skylights, LLC v. Byron, 112 F. Supp. 3d 1145 (D. Nev. 2015), which was the first decision cited in footnote 1 at page 4 of defendant's motion (JA, pg. 28), the court did not address the clear distinction throughout Section 4617between "property of the Agency" and "property of Fannie Mae." The court in Skylights found that based on the language in 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(a)(i), "the property of Fannie Mae effectively becomes the property of FHFA once it assumes the role of conservator,

and that property is protected by section 4617(j)'s exemptions." 112 F. Supp. 3d at 1155.

On the other hand, the court's treatment of "property of Fannie Mae" as identical with "property of the Agency" is contradicted by the many provisions in section 4617 that treat "property of Fannie Mae" as distinct from "property of the Agency."

The distinction is highlighted by the different goals assigned by 12 U.S.C. § 4617 to FHFA when it acts as a conservator compared to when FHFA acts as a receiver. In particular, 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(D) states that the Agency, as conservator, may take the actions "necessary to put the regulated entity in a sound and solvent condition" and "appropriate to carry on the business of the regulated entity and **preserve and conserve the assets and property of the regulated entity.**" (emphasis added) This language expresses a clear intent that when FHFA acts as a conservator, the property of the regulated entity remains separate and apart from the property of FHFA.

In order for 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) to apply in this case, defendant was required to prove that FHFA held an interest in the Property on the date of the foreclosure sale. The record on appeal contains no admissible evidence proving that FHFA held such

an interest.

3. The record on appeal does not contain admissible evidence proving that FHFA or Freddie Mac complied with Nevada law to hold an interest in the Property.

In <u>Butner v. United States</u>, 440 U.S. 48 (1979), the Supreme Court stated that "[p]roperty interests are created and defined by state law." <u>Id.</u> at 55. The Supreme Court also stated:

The justifications for application of state law are not limited to ownership interests; they apply with equal force to security interests, including the interest of a mortgagee in rents earned by mortgaged property.

<u>Id.</u>

In <u>United States v. View Crest Garden Apts.</u>, Inc., 268 F.2d 380 (9th Cir. 1959), the court of appeals held that federal law would govern the appointment of a receiver for a mortgage that was assigned by National Bank of Commerce of Seattle to the Federal National Mortgage Association and then to FHA. The court stated that it was appropriate to select state law as "the applicable federal rule." <u>Id.</u> at 382. The court explained in further detail:

Thus state recording acts interfere with no federal policy as there is no federal recording system for the type of mortgages here involved. It is commercially convenient to adopt existing state systems as it saves the expense of setting up a whole new federal recording system and it enables persons checking ownership interests in property to refer to one set of record books rather than two. (emphasis added)

<u>Id.</u> at 383.

As proved by paragraph (C) at the bottom of page 1 and top of page 2 in the deed of trust recorded on September 28, 2007 (JA, pgs. 100-101), Universal American Mortgage Company, LLC was identified as the Lender. As proved by paragraph (E) at page 2 of the deed of trust (JA, pg. 101), MERS was identified as the the beneficiary of the deed of trust "acting solely as nominee for Lender and Lender's successors and assigns."

Paragraph (J) at page 2 of the deed of trust (JA, pg. 101) and Paragraph 16 at page 11 of the deed of trust (JA, pg. 110) both state that the rights of the beneficiary under the deed of trust are governed by Nevada law.

Under Nevada law, a deed of trust is a conveyance of land that must comply with the statute of frauds.

In <u>Leyva v. National Default Servicing Corp.</u>, 127 Nev. 470, 255 P.3d 1275, 1279 (2011), this Court stated:

A deed of trust is an instrument that "secure[s] the performance of an obligation or the payment of any debt." NRS 107.020. This court has previously held that a deed of trust "constitutes a conveyance of land as defined by NRS 111.010." Ray v. Hawkins, 76 Nev. 164, 166, 350 P.2d 998, 999 (1960). The statute of frauds governs when a conveyance creates or assigns an interest in land:

No estate or interest in lands, ... nor any trust or power over or concerning lands, or in any manner relating thereto, shall be created, granted, assigned, surrendered or declared ..., unless ... by deed or conveyance, in writing, subscribed by the party creating, granting, assigning, surrendering or declaring the same, or by the party's lawful agent thereunto authorized in writing.

NRS 111.205(1) (emphases added). Thus, to prove that MortgageIT properly assigned its interest in land via the deed of trust to Wells Fargo, Wells Fargo needed to provide a signed writing from MortgageIT demonstrating that transfer of interest.

Because a deed of trust and an assignment of a deed of trust are both "conveyance(s)" of land as defined by NRS 111.010(1), defendant was required to produce a signed writing proving its claim that the deed of trust was assigned to Freddie Mac in a way that complies with Nevada law. In the present case, however, the record on appeal does not contain any document that assigned to Freddie Mac any interest in the deed of trust.

Defendant failed to produce any writing that conveyed any interest in the deed of trust to Fannie Mae and that satisfied Nevada's statute of frauds. The record on appeal does not contain admissible evidence that a written assignment of the deed of trust was ever signed in favor of Freddie Mac, and no assignment of the deed of trust to Freddie Mac has ever been recorded

The record on appeal also does not contain admissible evidence that satisfies the statute of frauds and proves that the underlying note was properly transferred to Freddie Mac. This Court has stated that "[t]he proper method of transferring the right to payment under a mortgage note is governed by Article 3 of the Uniform Commercial Code – Negotiable instruments, because a mortgage note is a negotiable

instrument." <u>Leyva v. National Default Servicing Corp.</u>, 127 Nev. 3, 255 P.3d 1275, 1279 (2011). This Court also stated: "Thus, a mortgage note is a negotiable instrument, and any negotiation of a mortgage note must be done in accordance with Article 3." Id. at 1280.

In order to negotiate a note, NRS 104.3201(1) requires: "[I]f an instrument is payable to an identified person, negotiation requires **transfer of possession** of the instrument **and** its **endorsement by the holder**." (emphasis added) NRS 104.3204(1) provides that an "endorsement" is a signature "made on an instrument for the purpose of negotiating the instrument."

A note may also be transferred without an endorsement, but NRS 104.3203(2) requires that the party seeking to establish its right to enforce the note "must account for possession of the unendorsed instrument by proving the transaction through which the transferee acquired it." (emphasis added)

As support for its motion for summary judgment, defendant relied on a declaration by April H. Hatfield, a Vice President Loan Documentation employed by defendant (JA, pgs. 48-54) and a declaration by Dean Meyer, a director of Loss Mitigation for Freddie Mac (JA, pgs. 146-158). Plaintiff objected that the declaration by April H. Hatfield did not meet the requirements of NRCP 56(c) and that

defendant's motion was not supported by admissible evidence. (JA, pgs. 68-70) The declaration of Dean Meyer was filed after plaintiff filed its opposition to defendant's motion, so plaintiff was not granted the opportunity to discuss Mr. Meyer's declaration in any written pleading.

Neither declaration included any statements made on personal knowledge proving that Freddie Mac complied with the requirements of Nevada law to acquire ownership of either the Blume note or deed of trust. In particular, neither declaration contains any statements regarding Freddie Mac's possession of the Blume note or the endorsement of the note to Freddie Mac by defendant Blume.

In addition, neither declaration stated that either Ms. Hatfield or Mr. Meyer had ever seen a written servicing agreement stating that defendant was servicing the Blume note and deed of trust for Freddie Mac. No such servicing agreement was produced by defendant.

NRS 107.070 provides:

Recording of assignments of beneficial interests and instruments subordinating or waiving priority of deeds of trust. The provisions of NRS 106.210 and 106.220 apply to deeds of trust as therein specified.

NRS 106.210 requires that "any assignment of the beneficial interest under a deed of trust **must** be recorded." (emphasis added).

In Edelstein v. Bank of New York Mellon, 128 Nev., Adv. Op. 48, 285 P.3d 249, 259 (2012), this Court stated:

Second, it is prudent to have the recorded beneficiary be the actual beneficiary and not just a shell for the "true" beneficiary. In Nevada, the purpose of recording a beneficial interest under a deed of trust is to provide "constructive notice ... to all persons." NRS 106.210. To permit an entity that is not really the beneficiary to record itself as the beneficiary would defeat the purpose of the recording statute and encourage a lack of transparency. (emphasis added)

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