IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAISY TRUST,

Appellant,

vs.

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.,

Respondent.

Case No. 72747

District Court No.
A-13-679095-C

Electronically Filed
Dec 11 2017 03:39 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

**From the Eighth Judicial District Court
The Honorable Stefany Miley**

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Andrew M. Jacobs

Nevada Bar 12787

Kelly H. Dove

Nevada Bar No. 10569

SNELL & WILMER L.L.P.

3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100

Las Vegas, NV 89169

Telephone: (702) 784-5200

Facsimile: (702) 784-5252

ajacobs@swlaw.com

kdove@swlaw.com

Attorneys for Respondent Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

NRAP 26.1 Disclosure Statement

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

case in which MERS acted as recorded beneficiary in a nominee capacity for the lender, this Court clarified that Nevada follows the entirety of the Restatement approach, including certain exceptions that the court had not discussed in its prior decision on similar issues, such as *Edelstein v. Bank of New York Mellon*, 286 P.3d 249, 257-58 (Nev. 2012) (citing Restatement § 5.4(a)). Specifically, *Montierth* held that a foreclosure on a mortgage could proceed when the noteholder was not the beneficiary named in the recorded deed of trust, so long as the named beneficiary—there, MERS—had authority to foreclose on the noteholder’s behalf. *Montierth*, 354 P.3d at 650-51. *Montierth* stated unequivocally that in those circumstances, a note owner remains “a secured creditor” under Nevada law, meaning that it retains a property interest in the collateral. *Id.* (citing Restatement § 5.4 cmts. c, e)

Therefore, *Montierth* establishes that where, as here, the record beneficiary of the deed of trust is in an agency or contractual relationship with the loan owner, that loan owner maintains a property interest in the collateral. *See id.* In such a circumstance, the purchaser of the loan, like Freddie Mac here, is a secured lender with a “fully secured, first priority deed” that can be enforced. *See id.*

Since *Montierth*, courts have recognized that when the entity appearing as record beneficiary of a deed of trust is MERS or a servicer in a contractual relationship with the loan owner, the loan owner retains a secured property interest under Nevada law. Indeed, this Court evaluated *Montierth* and the Restatement in detail to confirm that they applied to the relationship between Freddie Mac and its servicers. See *Nationstar*, 396 P.3d 756. And the Ninth Circuit analyzed *Montierth* and the Restatement extensively in concluding that Nevada law recognizes that a loan owner like Freddie Mac has a secured property interest. *Berezovsky*, 869 F.3d at 932-33; *Elmer*, 2017 WL 3822061, at *1. There is no plausible basis to distinguish these cases. Accordingly, this Court should hold that Freddie Mac had a secured property interest at the time of the HOA Sale.

3. The Loan Owner's Name Need Not Appear in the Public Title Records for the Loan Owner to Have a Protected Property Interest.

Daisy Trust's Brief attempts to avoid *Montierth* and the Restatement by focusing instead on *Edelstein* to argue that Nevada law requires Freddie Mac's property interest to be recorded. See AOB at 15, 21-22 (citing *Edelstein*, 286 P.3d at 259). But Daisy Trust fails to

mention that *Montierth* clarified that Nevada follows the entirety of the Restatement approach, explicitly stating that it adopted certain exceptions that this Court had not discussed in *Edelstein*. *Montierth*, 354 P.3d at 651 (“[b]ecause it was not pertinent to our analysis in *Edelstein*, we did not include the exceptions provided in the Restatement We agree with the Restatement’s reasoning.”). As explained in *Montierth* and consistent with the Restatement, when a loan owner has an agency or contractual relationship with an entity who acts as the beneficiary of record of a deed of trust, the loan owner (though not the record beneficiary) maintains a secured property interest. *See Montierth*, 354 P.3d at 650-51.

Daisy Trust also attempts to distinguish *Montierth*, but its arguments fare no better. It implies that *Montierth* is inapplicable because Wells Fargo failed to produce evidence of a subsequent “transfer” of the note to Freddie Mac. *See* AOB at 22. But the “transfer” discussed in *Montierth* was merely the acquisition of the loan by Deutsche Bank from the original lender. 354 P.3d at 649. Here, that “transfer” occurred when Freddie Mac purchased the loan in November 2007, evidenced by Freddie Mac’s business records and the declaration

of its employee. JA 49, 146-58. Daisy Trust provides no contrary evidence, and the district court made no findings on that point.

Daisy Trust also argues that MERS's role in *Montierth* was factually distinct from Wells Fargo's role as servicer, thus rendering the decision inapplicable here. AOB at 22. But this assertion is supported by neither *Montierth* nor the record. Daisy Trust cites *Montierth*'s holding that the language in the Deed of Trust referring to MERS holding legal title only rendered any assignment of the Deed of Trust "ministerial." AOB at 22. But the *Montierth* Court's analysis of this language was not part of the holding that Deutsche Bank had a secured property interest. Rather, that discussion related to the automatic stay provisions of bankruptcy cases, which has no relevance here. See *Montierth*, 354 P.3d at 651-53.

The Ninth Circuit, consistent with and in express reliance on *Montierth*, has thrice rejected the argument Daisy Trust advances here. In *Berezovsky*, that court stated that "[a]lthough the recorded deed of trust here omitted Freddie Mac's name, Freddie Mac's property interest is valid and enforceable under Nevada law." 869 F.3d at 932 (citing *Montierth*, 354 P.3d at 651). In *Elmer*, the Ninth Circuit similarly held

that “Freddie Mac’s property interest is valid and enforceable under Nevada law even if the recorded document omits Freddie Mac’s name, *if the recorded beneficiary of the deed of trust is a party acting on Freddie Mac’s behalf.*” *Elmer*, 2017 WL 3822061, at *1 (emphasis added). And in *Flagstar*, relying on *Berezovsky*, the court held that “there were no genuine issues of material fact regarding Fannie Mae’s ownership.” *Flagstar*, 2017 WL 4712396, at *1.

These cases involved facts materially identical to those presented here: Freddie Mac maintaining a secured property interest as a loan owner, with its contractually authorized representative appearing as beneficiary of record on the Deed of Trust. More specifically, here, as in *Berezovsky* and *Flagstar*, the Enterprise’s servicer was the beneficiary of record of the deed of trust at the time of the HOA foreclosure sale. Accordingly, the Ninth Circuit’s growing list of precedents presents strong persuasive authority rebutting Daisy Trust’s argument that Freddie Mac did not have a property interest.

4. Nevada’s Recording Statutes Do Not Contradict *Montierth*.

Daisy Trust argues that Freddie Mac’s interest was void because it was not recorded, but Daisy Trust’s reliance on Nevada’s recording

statute is misplaced. *See* AOB at 23-24, 31-32 (citing Nev. Rev. Stat. § 111.325). As an initial matter, its arguments fail to satisfy its own premise: the interest at issue here—the interest embodied in the Deed of Trust owned by Freddie Mac—was *not* “unrecorded.” Daisy Trust cannot and does not deny that the Deed of Trust or its assignment to Freddie Mac’s servicer had been properly recorded.

The gist of Daisy Trust’s argument appears to be that Freddie Mac’s *ownership* of the Deed of Trust was not recorded, thereby rendering it unenforceable. *See id.* That is wrong. *Montierth*, along with the trio of Ninth Circuit decisions, unequivocally recognize that where, as here, the record beneficiary of the deed of trust is the loan owner’s contractually authorized representative, the loan owner retains its interest as a “secured creditor,” which, by definition, involves an “enforceable interest in the property.” *Berezovsky*, 869 F.3d at 932 (citing *Montierth*, 354 P.3d at 651) (a loan owner “remains a secured creditor with a property interest in the collateral even if the recorded deed of trust names only the [loan] owner’s” contractually authorized representative).

Daisy Trust also misreads the Nevada recording statutes, which do not contradict *Montierth* because those statutes do not require public recording in order for a party to have ownership of a *loan*. The statutes require only the recording of a “conveyance”—a deed of trust itself or an assignment of a deed of trust—not its subsequent acquisition by an investor through its purchase of a loan. *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. § 111.010(1) (defining “conveyance” as “every instrument in writing ... by which any estate or interest in lands is created, aliened, assigned or surrendered”); *see also* *Leyva v. Nat’l Default Servicing Corp.*, 255 P.3d 1275, 1279 (Nev. 2011) (deed of trust constitutes a conveyance as defined by Nev. Rev. Stat. § 111.010). There is no statutory requirement that a deed of trust or its subsequent assignments reflect the identity of the *owner* of the loan.⁸

Daisy Trust’s argument therefore confuses loan owners, such as Freddie Mac, with the nominee of the owner, such as Wells Fargo, that may act as record beneficiaries of deeds of trust on Freddie Mac’s

⁸ Indeed, the Ninth Circuit rejected a similar argument in *Elmer*. There, the appellant invoked Nev. Rev. Stat. § 111.315 as purportedly rendering Freddie Mac’s property interest unenforceable against a subsequent purchaser. *See* Appellant’s Reply Br. at 19-20, No. 15-17407 (Dkt. No. 23). This Court should find the Ninth Circuit’s reasoning persuasive.

behalf. Indeed, this argument misunderstands the mortgage market itself, which has for many years prominently featured loan owners and servicers, among others. *See Cervantes*, 656 F.3d at 1038-39; *Nationstar*, 396 P.3d at 757 (citing the Restatement and Jason H.P. Kravitt & Robert E. Gordon, SECURITIZATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS § 16.05 (3d ed. 2012) in describing the loan owner-servicer relationship). Moreover, there is no logical reason why Daisy Trust's argument would affect only deeds of trust at issue in HOA Sales; if adopted, Daisy Trust's argument could render billions of dollars of home loans unsecured, sending the housing-finance market into chaos.

B. Daisy Trust's Challenges to the Type and Amount of Evidence That Supported Freddie Mac's Property Interest Fail.

Wells Fargo presented uncontroverted evidence that Freddie Mac owned the loan at the time of the HOA Sale. Daisy Trust's attacks on that evidence fall well short of their mark.

1. The Evidence Unequivocally Proved That Freddie Mac Owned the Loan.

In accordance with NRCP 56(e), Wells Fargo established facts at summary judgment using Freddie Mac's business records and a declaration from a Freddie Mac employee explaining that the records

indicate when Freddie Mac acquired the loan and that Freddie Mac has owned the loan since the time it was acquired. JA 49, 146-58. The Ninth Circuit, applying NRCP 56's federal counterpart, confirmed that Freddie Mac's property interest can be established using such evidence.⁹ *Berezovsky*, 869 F.3d at 933; *Elmer*, 2017 WL 3822061, at *2.

As in *Berezovsky* and *Elmer*, Freddie Mac presented the same type of evidence in this case before the district court when seeking summary judgment. This Court should confirm that this evidence is sufficient.

a. Freddie Mac's Database Records Prove Its Ownership.

In support of its motion for summary judgment, Wells Fargo submitted its own business records as well as the business records from Freddie Mac's MIDAS system, a database Freddie Mac uses in its ordinary business operations to track millions of loans it owns nationwide. See JA 48-49, 146-58. The MIDAS records offered in support of Wells Fargo's motion for summary judgment show that the "funding date" on which Freddie Mac acquired ownership of the loan

⁹ This Court may look to federal law "discussing an analogous federal rule of evidence" for guidance in interpreting its own evidence rules. *L.V. Dev. Assocs. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 325 P.3d 1259, 1265 (Nev. 2014) (citation omitted).

was in November 2007—long before the August 2012 HOA Sale. *Id.* This data also demonstrates Freddie Mac’s continued ownership of the loan at the time of the HOA Sale. *Id.* The Ninth Circuit has held that Freddie Mac’s records derived from MIDAS are admissible business records. *Berezovsky*, 869 F.3d at 932 & n.8 (holding that Freddie Mac “database printouts” were sufficient to support a “valid and enforceable” property interest under Nevada law); *Elmer*, 2017 WL 3822061, at *1 (finding that a declaration from a Freddie Mac employee and printouts from Freddie Mac’s MIDAS system were “reliable and uncontroverted evidence of its interest in the property on the date of the foreclosure”). The same is true here, and the Court should reach the same conclusion.

These business records were properly introduced and explained by the declaration of Dean Meyer, a Freddie Mac employee qualified to give testimony as to the business records. *See* JA 161, 146-58. In his declaration, Mr. Meyer confirmed that the MIDAS data proves that: Freddie Mac purchased the loan in November 2007; Freddie Mac continues to own the loan; and Wells Fargo appeared as the beneficiary of record of the Deed of Trust at the time of the HOA Sale. JA 146-50. As in *Elmer*, this evidence constitutes “reliable and uncontroverted

evidence of [Freddie Mac's] interest in the property on the date of the foreclosure.” *Elmer*, 2017 WL 3822061, at *1.

Based on Freddie Mac's business records and the Meyer Declaration, the district court properly found that “[Freddie Mac] purchased the Loan and thereby obtained a property interest in the Deed of Trust on or about November 13, 2007.” JA 161.

b. Daisy Trust Cannot Impugn Freddie Mac's Ownership of the Loan.

In the district court, Daisy Trust presented *no* evidence to contradict Freddie Mac's ownership of the loan—nor did it offer any theory as to what other entity might have owned the loan at the time of the HOA Sale. The arguments Daisy Trust now offers lack merit.

Daisy Trust argues that the business records and the Meyer Declaration are inadmissible. *E.g.*, AOB at 14. But, as shown in *Elmer*, such attacks on the Meyer Declaration are unavailing. *Elmer* evaluated similar business records and rejected speculation by the party opposing summary judgment that the records might be interpreted in some way other than that presented in Freddie Mac's employee declaration. *Elmer*, 2017 WL 3822061, at *1. This Court should reject these arguments as well.

Daisy Trust also attempts to attack the admissibility of Mr. Meyer's Declaration on the grounds that he lacked personal knowledge of Freddie Mac's business records, as he did not make and keep the entries in the database system himself. *See* AOB at 20. But this is not the standard. All that is required is that the declarant be "qualified to testify about the business practices and procedures for inputting the underlying data. It is not necessary for each individual who entered a record of payment into the database to testify as to the accuracy of each piece of data entered." *U-Haul Int'l, Inc. v. Lumbermens Mut. Cas. Co.*, 576 F.3d 1040, 1043 (9th Cir. 2009). The witness "need not have personal knowledge of the actual creation of the document Nor is there any requirement under Rule 803(6) that the records be prepared by the party who has custody of the documents and seeks to introduce them into evidence." *Phoenix Assocs. III v. Stone*, 60 F.3d 95, 101 (2d Cir. 1995) (citation omitted).

Daisy Trust also contends that the MIDAS screenshots accompanying the Meyer Declaration were inadmissible because they were purportedly prepared for purposes of litigation and therefore cannot be considered a proper business record. AOB at 15. But Daisy

Trust confuses the meaning of “prepared for the purposes of litigation,” and such an argument runs contrary to all the evidence. “[S]o long as the original computer data compilation was prepared pursuant to a business duty in accordance with regular business practice, the fact that the hard copy offered as evidence was printed for purposes of litigation does not affect its admissibility.” *United States v. Hernandez*, 913 F.2d 1506, 1512–1513 (10th Cir. 1990). Accordingly, the fact that the records bear the date July 1, 2016—the date on which the information was pulled from the database and printed—has no effect on their admissibility.

Relying on a federal bankruptcy appeal, Daisy Trust argues that the declarations did not sufficiently authenticate Freddie Mac’s computer records. *See* AOB 16-18 (citing *In re Vinhnee*, 336 B.R. 437, 446-447 (9th Cir. Bankr. 2015)). As an initial matter, Daisy Trust failed to make this argument in the proceedings below, despite the fact that *Vinhnee* was decided in 2015, and it has therefore waived such arguments. *See Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) (providing that arguments not raised below are waived on appeal). Moreover, *Vinhnee* did not hold that authentication of

computer records requires an eleven-step procedure. Rather, the panel of bankruptcy judges merely held that a bankruptcy court did not abuse its discretion when it applied an especially rigorous authentication standard to computer records where the accuracy of the records was in question.

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